2010-CA-01267 T

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The Circuit Court erred as a matter of law and abused its discretion in granting summary judgment because there are genuine issues of material fact regarding whether the owner was negligent in his confinement of three horses.
- II. The Circuit Court erred in granting the Defendant's summary judgment because negligence may be established through circumstantial evidence and the Plaintiffs presented ample circumstantial evidence to present a genuine issue of material fact for jury determination.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION

This is an appeal from an adverse Summary Judgment for the Defendant/Appellee which has its genesis in the Circuit Court of George County, Mississippi. The Plaintiffs, Diana Ladnier and Lawrence Ladnier, hereinafter referred to as "LADNIER", filed this cause of action on or about June 12, 2009, alleging that in the early morning hours on January 2, 2008, at approximately 12:02 a.m., Diana Ladnier was traveling southbound on River Road in George County, Mississippi. While proceeding below the posted speed limit, unbeknownst to her, three horses suddenly and without warning jumped in the path of Ladnier's motor vehicle, which she was unable to avoid, and caused her to crash into one of the horses. Defendant/Appellee, Joseph Hester, hereinafter referred to as "HESTER," admitted that he owned and was responsible for keeping the horses fenced in and away from a highly traveled road. As a result of this incident Mrs. Ladnier suffered injuries which required back surgery and other related medical treatment.

After commencing this cause of action, discovery ensued. Hester then filed his Motion for Summary Judgment on June 2, 2010. Ladnier filed their response to Motion for summary judgment on June 24, 2010. The summary judgment order was entered by the Honorable Circuit Judge Kathy Jackson on July 22, 2010. Ladnier filed their timely Notice of Appeal on July 27, 2010.

Ladnier's Notice of Appeal to this Honorable Court alleges two separate issues which individually and collectively denied Plaintiffs justice and a <u>fair remedy as provided for by law</u>.

Ladnier's case presents genuine issues of material facts reserved for jury determination. Ladnier submits to this Honorable Court that they are entitled to reversal of the lower court's summary judgment and remand for trial on the merits.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

In the early morning hours of January 2, 2008, Diana Ladnier was driving her 2007

Chevrolet Malibu in a southerly direction on River Road in Lucedale, Mississippi. Mrs. Ladnier was on her way back home from work at the George County Correctional Facility at 12:02 a.m.

Shortly after midnight, Ladnier approached the intersection of Joe Fairly Road and River Road, traveling approximately fifty (50) mph in a fifty-five (55) mph speed zone, when suddenly and without warning three horses escaped from Defendant's property and ran out in front of her vehicle. Ladnier violently struck one of the horses in an unavoidable crash causing major property damage to the front of the vehicle and causing her serious bodily injury which will affect her for the remainder of her life. The crash resulted in permanent injuries to Diana Ladnier and also required lower back surgery. To date, Ladnier has incurred well over \$68,997.60 in medical bills for her lower back surgery and related medical treatment. As a result of her injuries, Ladnier also lost her employment as a Correctional Officer with the George County Correctional Facility.

It has been established through sworn deposition testimony that Joseph Hester is the owner of the subject property where the horses were housed, purchasing this property around March of 2006. Deposition Joseph Hester 13:15 (March 10, 2010), attached hereto as R. E. #7. This particular property contains a house and sits on approximately 6% acres. Depo. Hester 16:22. There are approximately three acres fenced for the horses. Depo. Hester 17:13. Hester testified that the acreage on the west side of the property contained a boundary fence, constructed of three strands of barbed wire approximately four-feet in height. The north side included a boundary fence with field wire approximately four-feet high. On the east side, there is an adjoining wooden fence and on the south side was three-strand barbed wire, with the exception

of one particular small section, which was fenced with what is known as "field fence", a field mesh fence as shown in the photograph attached hereto as R E. #8. *Depo. Hester 52:8*. After installing a gate where barbed wire once was, Hester chose to install "field fence" in the corner instead of reinstalling a barbed wire section. *Depo. Hester 27:19; 33:8*. Hester testified that one end of the "field fence" was attached to the wood post with regular fence staples and the other end with just fasteners on the posts. *Depo. Hester 77:3—79:20*.

Hester testified this was the only type of "field fence" that he had on this entire enclosure. Hester also testified that on the date in question he housed three horses on this three acres without the benefit of a barn or any other type of enclosure to protect the horses from the elements. *Depo. Hester 42:15*. Further, Hester testified that he would allow his horses to graze on Bahia grass in their neighbor's pasture across the street at least one week out of every month prior to this incident taking place. *Depo. Hester 70-73*. Hester also stated that it is his experience that horses like to lean against fences. *Depo. Hester 56:2*. Hester also agreed that horses like to roam. *Depo. Hester 57:4*. After the collision with Lanier, the inspection of the field revealed the "field fence" was found smashed down and the other two horses (not injured) were found grazing in the neighbor's pasture. *Depo. Hester 75:2*.

Hester further testified that of the three horses, one weighed approximately 1,000 pounds and the others were between 800 and 900 pounds. *Depo. Hester 55:16-22*. Hester further agreed there are certain responsibilities that come with keeping horses, including making certain there are properly constructed enclosures so that the horses do not get free and pose a hazard to drivers. *Depo. Hester 65:9*. Hester also agreed that the stretch of highway at River Road and Fairley Road is a dark, unlit intersection; and a black or dark-colored horse in an unlit section of

this particular roadway could pose a hazard to a motorist if those horses escaped. Depo. Hester

ARGUMENT OF THE LAW

Standard of Review

This Court reviews orders granting motions for summary judgment *de novo*. *Mantachie Natural Gas v. Mississippi Valley Gas Co.*, 594 So.2d 1170, 1172 (Miss. 1992). Summary Judgment may be granted only "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admission on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Webb v. Jackson*, 583 So.2d 946, 949 (Miss. 1991) (quoting *Mink v. Andrew Jackson Casualty Ins. Co.*, 537 So.2d 431, 433 (Miss. 1988), *see also*, Miss.R.Civ.P. 56(c). The "[a]dmissions, and pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits are viewed in light most favorable to non-moving party, as he is given the benefit of every reasonable doubt." *Spartan Food Systems, Inc. v. American National Insurance Co.*, 582 So.2d 399, 402 (Miss. 1991), see also, *McFadden v. State*, 580 So.2d 1210, 1213 (Miss. 1991). The moving party bears the burden of showing that no genuine issue of material fact exists. *Tucker v. Hinds County*, 558 So.2d 869, 872 (Miss. 1990).

The Circuit Court "does not try issues; rather [it] only determines whether there are issues to be tried." *Burkes v. Fred's stores of Tennessee, Inc.*, 768 So.2d 325 (Miss. 2000). The Circuit Court should deny a motion for summary judgment "unless it is established beyond a <u>reasonable doubt</u> that the plaintiff would be unable to prove <u>any facts</u> to support the issues presented in the complaint." *Branch v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Co.*, 759 So.2d 430 (Miss. 2000) (emphasis added). To that end, "[a]ll motions for summary judgment should be viewed with great skepticism and if the trial court is to err, it is better to err on the side denying the motion." *Ratliff v. Ratliff*, 500 So.2d 981, 981 (Miss. 1986).

To be successful on appeal, Ladnier must demonstrate that the Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Hester by showing that there exists a genuine issue of material fact with regard to each element of the negligence claim: (1) a duty was owed by Hester to Ladnier; (2) Hester's breach of that duty; (3) evidence which demonstrates that Hester's breach of his duty was the proximate cause of the damages sustained by Ladnier; and (4) damages. *Magnusen v. Pine Belt Inv. Corp.*, 963 So.2d 1279, 1282 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (quoting *Crain v. Cleveland Lodge 1532, Order of Moose*, 641 So.2d 1186, 1189 (Miss. 1994)). This Court reviews a grant of summary judgment *de novo*, as they raise a question of law. *Price v. Park Mgmt.*, 831 So.2d 550, 551 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (citing *Carter v. Harkey*, 774 So.2d 392, 394 (Miss. 2000)). "When evaluating a motion for summary judgment, the court must view all of the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Id.*

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETIONIN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE THERE ARE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT REGARDING WHETHER THE OWNER WAS NEGLIGENT IN HIS CONFINEMENT OF THREE HORSES.

Examining the evidence in the light most favorable to Ladnier, as the non-movant, and giving them the benefit of all favorable inferences, this Court should find that the facts and inferences reveal factual questions that reasonable minds could arrive at different conclusions. A jury should answer whether Hester was negligent in using "field fence" in substitution for barbed wire in housing three large horses. Therefore, this Court should reverse summary judgment because there is a real jury issue of whether Hester's choice of barbless fencing was reasonable under the circumstances which presents a factual question for the jury to decide.

The court in *Barrett v. Parker*, 757 So.2d 182 (Miss. 2000), laid out the elements for a negligence claim in Mississippi for a livestock and roadway accident:

"Before a motorist can recover on his claim against the owner of the cow, he must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the owner of the cow was negligent by proving that the owner:

- (1) Failed to exercise reasonable care to keep the cow from being at large, and
- (2) That such failure, if any, resulted in the escape of the cow from its enclosure, and
- (3) That the cow owner's failure to exercise such reasonable care proximately caused the injury to the motorist who collided with the cow."

Id. at 188. For the appeal at bar, the Court is considering element number one and whether there was any genuine issue of material fact that lends itself to any "breach of duty." The Appellants submit to this Honorable Court that Hester's decision to use "field fence" as

opposed to something stronger, such as barbed wire, and more suitable to housing 1,000 pound animals, came with foreseeable consequences and risks. Those consequences and risks were the escape of the livestock and the possibility that they may be struck by an automobile on the adjacent roadway. In conclusion, Ladnier submits that a jury, not a judge, must decide the question whether Mr. Hester took an unjustified and substantial risk when choosing to use "field fence" for a section of fencing to restrain three (3) half ton horses. It appears that the trial judge overlooked or disregarded many of the surrounding factors and circumstances in regards to the escaped horses. The trial court judge abused her discretion by granting summary judgment.

In the trial court's Order granting summary judgment, the Court stated that:

"Ladniers have produced no evidence that Mr. Hester failed to act with reasonable care or that that the horses had any propensities that might cause injury or possessed vicious dispositions. At the hearing the Ladnier's conceded that the horses had not escaped the field in the previous two years they were housed there. The only facts presented were that horses like to lean against fences. The fact that horses in general have a tendency to lean against fences would not put a reasonable person on notice that these horses would trample the fence and escape, thereby causing injuries to a motorist."

Or. Granting Def's. Mot. S.J. 2 (July 22, 2010). With all due deference to the trial court, Ladnier submits to this court that the trial court is acting as the fact finder in assuming that the portion of the enclosure that was erected, "field fence", was reasonable under the circumstances and not a breach of his duty. Ladnier submits that the trial court, in granting summary judgment, disregards many of the factual circumstances that lead to the escape of the horses. Consequently, Ladnier respectfully submits that reasonable minds could surely differ on whether the construction or choice of the small section of fence called "field fence" was reasonable under the circumstances.

In Hester's brief in support of the motion for summary judgment, counsel opposite states that the "fencing used was standard issue cattle and horse fence." *Def's Memo in Sup. Mot. S.J.* 9 (June 6, 2010). Should this Court take counsel opposite's contention that the fence was "standard issue cattle and horse fence" as 100% truth or should this Court allow a jury to make that determination? <u>Ladnier purports that the section of field fencing was inadequate from the date it was constructed and would like to submit as much for a jury determination. Hester knew or should have known that "field fence" with no barbs was inadequate to detain three 1,000 pound horses, and thus, contained substantial risk. A jury of reasonable minds could easily differ in the opinion of whether the section of "field fence" compared to the "barbed wire" fencing on the rest of the acreage, is reasonably prudent under the circumstances. The difference in strength and size become immediately discernable to a reasonably minded person when looking at the picture and considering the circumstances.</u>

a. In considering all of the evidence in the light most favorable to Ladnier, there is substantial evidence presented where a reasonable and fairminded person in the exercise of impartial judgment could arrive at a verdict in favor of the Plaintiffs.

Most importantly, a jury, not a judge, should make the factual determination of whether Hester's choice of fencing material and fence construction was reasonable considering the underlying facts and circumstances. Ladnier respectfully submits to this Court that when weighing and viewing all available evidence in the light most favorable to them, this Court should reverse the trial court's Order granting summary judgment and remand the case to be set for trial on the merits.

There are countless factors to take into consideration in determining whether Hester's section of fencing was unreasonable under the circumstances. In short: 1) type of fencing and

characteristics of the "field fence" (no barbs or spikes); 2) construction of fencing (staples used and clamps used); 3) size of field compared to size of animals; 4) size and nature of horses being confined; 5) nature of Diego, the horse, to be "curious," have a "propensity to roam," be the "boss of the pen," and how all the horses "like to lean against the fences"; 6) no barn or trees for horses to shelter themselves; 7) the horses being grazed across the street for one (1) week out of every month on the Bahia grass in the neighbor's pasture; and 8) circumstantial evidence in support of an inadequate containment.

i. A reasonable person should have known that "field fence" with no barbs or spikes could be compromised if 1000 pound horses lean against the fence, and thus, created a dangerous hazard for drivers.

Most important for the fact finder or jury to consider is the general characteristics of "field fence" which had no spikes or barbs to prevent animals from escaping or pressing against the fence with too much force.

Ladnier avers that Hester was negligent under the circumstances in trying to fence in three horses, each weighing 1,000 pounds or more, with only "field fence." "Field Fencing" is not barbed wire. Field fencing is a "box wire" with no barbs or spikes to prevent or deter animals from leaning or pressing against it to escape or "roam." "Field fence" can best be described as a sturdier type of "chicken wire." Under the circumstances, it was foreseeable that a 1,000 pound horse or potentially three 1,000 pound horses could compromise the frail nature of the "field fence." Therefore, Hester has breached his duty to exercise reasonable care to prevent the foreseeable escape of the horse in question, and the harm done was of the sort expected to occur in such circumstances.

A reasonable person may conclude that a fence housing half-ton horses should have barbs or spikes to prevent the horses from resting, scratching themselves, or trying to escape with too much force. On the other hand, "barbed wire" fencing has spikes and tacks on it to prevent the farm animal from pushing too hard against it, whether scratching itself or trying to escape or roam. After all, Hester was not fencing in small farm animals such as chickens, goats, and sheep; rather he was attempting to restrain three large horses. Hester even testified that Diego, the horse actually hit, "was a real curious nature-type horse," and further testified that Diego "definitely wanted to be the boss of the pen." *Depo. Hester 49:18*. Hester even stated that the horses liked to lean against the fences. *Depo. Hester 55:23*.

This knowledge, in addition to the circumstances of the instant case, present genuine issues of material fact about the adequacy of a barbless box fence and should therefore be submitted to a jury. Sound and reasonable minds could surely differ when weighing the circumstances surrounding whether Hester was negligent in constructing the fence with such a light duty, box wire "field fence." Hester should have known the "field fence" section of fencing would not be sufficient if the horses ever leaned up against it or pushed on that section. When trying to detain such large, 1,000 pound, "curious" animals, reasonable minds could conclude that a sturdy fencing with barbs should have been used. A jury should answer the question of whether Hester satisfactorily met his duty of care and acted reasonably under the circumstances in the confinement of his three large horses.

ii. <u>The passage of time with no escape does not negate the question of whether Hester should have known a smaller, shorter, barbless fence was reasonable under the circumstances.</u>

The Appellee will attempt to make the argument that he had no reason to know the field fence was inadequate because it had housed the animals for a period of time leading up to the

incident in question. Hester will further attempt to render his actions reasonable by stating that the fence was in good repair and he made inspections with due attention. This Court should analyze this argument closer because there is a factual question of whether "field fencing" of the size and quality used, even in mint condition, might not be adequate to detain horses in question. Moreover, just because the confinement worked for any amount of time does not negate Hester's negligence, as he was merely the recipient of good fortune prior to the subject event in the case at bar.

For argument sake, hypothetically consider when a person forgets to turn a gas stove off or forgetfully leaves an electric iron turned on. The mere time passage of an hour, a week, a month, or a year or more does not negate the negligent act of leaving the gas stove burning or an electric appliance power on. Just because the negligent act does not burn down the house immediately, the act itself is still negligent. The ever present risk of the house burning down is a true foreseeable risk. The same standard goes for a person who forgets to put a child safety lock on a window where children play; or a person leaves a loaded gun in a place where children frequent. The court should agree that mere time passage, or an accident not occurring, does not negate the negligent acts previously mentioned. Such an analogy can be made of these hypothetical situations to that of the Hester's selection of fencing.

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