NO. 2010-CA-01267

# DIANA LADNIER and LAWRENCE LADNIER

VERSUS

## **JOSEPH HESTER**

## **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons may have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disgualification or recusal.

- 1. Honorable Kathy King Jackson, Circuit Court Judge, George County, Mississippi;
- 2. Diana Ladnier and Lawrence Ladnier, Plaintiffs/Appellants;
- 3. Joseph Hester, Defendant/Appellee;
- Garner J. Wetzel, Esq. and James K. Wetzel, Esq., with the law firm of James K.

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

The movant bears the burden of persuading the Court that (1) no genuine issue of material fact exists, and (2) that on the basis of the facts established, the movant is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law. MRCP 56(c). Once the absence of any genuine issue of material fact has been shown, the burden of rebuttal falls upon the non-moving party. To survive summary judgment, the non-moving party must produce specific facts showing that there is a genuine material issue for trial. MRCP 56(e); *Fruchter v. Lynch Oil Co.*, 522 So.2d 195, 199 (Miss 1988).

"The purpose of this rule is to expedite the determination of actions on their merits and to eliminate unmeritorious claims. . ." MRCP 56 cmt. This rule provides a means to dismiss cases, like the one presently before the Court, brought by those without lawfully compensable claims.

## NO. 2010-CA-01267

## DIANA LADNIER and LAWRENCE LADNIER

## VERSUS

## JOSEPH HESTER

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Ladniers' appeal centers on trying to convince the appellate court that Hester was negligent for using horse and cattle box wire and not barbed wire to secure his horse. They seek to have the court determine for them that horse and cattle wire fencing is so inherently defective that its mere use constitutes negligence. Further, plaintiffs seek this determination based solely upon argument and not fact that the fencing chosen by the defendant is not proper to secure a horse. There is simply no evidence that Hester should have done something but did not, or, did something that he was not supposed to do.

The Ladniers did not produce any testimony, exhibits, or other evidence to support their evolving theories that using horse and cattle box wire is malfeasant or misfeasant. In fact, the evidence is undisputed that his horse had been adequately secured by the fence in question for almost two (2) years before the night the horse escaped. The evidence is also undisputed that Mr. Hester kept his horses well fed and fed his horses on the day of the escape.

If the Plaintiffs had evidence that horse and cattle box wire fencing was inadequate for keeping horses, they should have produced the evidence. The trial court was correct in ruling that "[t]he Plaintiffs have wholly failed to show that the horses had any propensities to escape or that Mr. Hester failed to act with reasonable care."

-9-

# APPELLANTS

## APPELLEE

## NO. 2010-CA-01267

## DIANA LADNIER and LAWRENCE LADNIER

**APPELLANTS** 

VERSUS

## **JOSEPH HESTER**

APPELLEE

## ARGUMENT

# I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED PLAINTIFFS' CASE ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS THERE WERE NO GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT AND THE PLAINTIFFS SIMPLY FAILED TO PRODUCE EVIDENCE THAT DEFENDANT'S NEGLIGENCE CAUSED HIS HORSE TO ESCAPE ONTO THE ROAD.

Plaintiffs allege negligence which requires proof that (1) Mr. Hester owed a duty to

Plaintiffs; (2) Mr. Hester breached his duty to Plaintiffs; and (3) Plaintiffs sustained damage as a result of Mr. Hester' breach of that duty. *Ball v. Dominion Ins. Corp*, 794 So.2d 271, 273 (Miss. 2001); *Hardy v. K Mart Corp*, 669 So.2d 34, 37 (Miss. 1996). The moving party has the burden of showing that no genuine issue of material fact exists and that, viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party, the movant is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. *McMillan v. Rodriguez*, 823 So.2d 1173 (Miss. 2002).

In their appeal brief, the Plaintiffs cite very little law for the underlying proposition of whether there is liability under the established facts at bar because the law of the State of Mississippi is contrary to Plaintiffs' position. There are several cases that point to the opposite conclusion that the Plaintiffs ask this Court to reach.

In *McMillan, supra*, the plaintiff presented evidence that Mr. McMillan's bull had escaped from its enclosure two months prior to the accident in question. *Id.* at 1176. The court

wrote that "[g]enerally, the owner or keeper of a domestic animal is charged with knowledge of the natural propensities of animals of the particular class to which this animal belongs, and if these propensities are of the kind that might cause injury he must exercise the care necessary to prevent such injuries as may be anticipated." *Id.* at 1178.

As the trial court in the case at bar wrote in its order: "[t]he Ladniers have produced no evidence that Mr. Hester failed to act with reasonable care or that the horses had any propensities that might cause injury or possessed vicious dispositions. At the hearing the Ladniers conceded that the horses had not escaped the field in the previous two years they were housed there." *R. at* 449.<sup>2</sup> The Ladniers had no evidence that Mr. Hester was negligent. Instead they relied solely on the fact that the horses trampled the fence for the first time in two years of confinement and escaped for a fact that Defendant was generally misfeasant. Now, on appeal, they argue that the fencing, which is commonly used for fencing livestock, is by its nature defective or can be implied as defective and its use by Defendant was malfeasant. To avoid the summary judgment, however, Plaintiffs were required to produce evidence, not just an argument, that established the Defendant knew or should have known about the foreseeable failure of fence to restrain his livestock from roaming free, or, that the Defendant breached some known, articulate duty. Ladnier could not produce this evidence because it does not exist.

In another case, *Barrett v. Parker*, 757 So.2d 182 (Miss. 2000), the court held that a plaintiff was required to prove actual negligence on the part of defendant: that the defendant was negligent in allowing his calf to escape onto the road. *Id.* at 185. The court in *Barrett* approved

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Plaintiffs mis-characterize the testimony in their brief when stating that "Hester even stated that *the* horses liked to lean against the fences." (*Plaintiffs' appeal brief p. 13, citing Depo. of Hester 55:23*) Hester was asked a general statement about horses liking to lean against fences, not his particular horses, but horses in general.

the trial court's instruction to the jury on negligence as "correctly set[ting] out the elements which a plaintiff must prove in order to prevail in a negligence action." *Id.* at 188. The court said that the law was as follows: "the owner of a cow, which has escaped its enclosure and has become located upon a county public road is not necessarily liable for injuries sustained by a motorist who collides with such cow on the roadway. *Id.* 

The *Barrett* court reiterates that there is no strict liability – Mr. Hester is not liable simply because his horse escaped. The Plaintiffs must prove Mr. Hester's negligence allowed or caused the horse to escape. The Plaintiffs must prove that Mr. Hester failed to exercise reasonable care and that his failure allowed the horse to escape. The Ladniers, to prevail, must prove facts beyond *the horse escaped*.

There is simply no evidence that Mr. Hester failed to exercise reasonable care to keep his horse from being at large. The horses had never escaped their enclosure prior to the night of the Plaintiff's accident. The fence had held for almost two years. Mr. Hester checked the fence at feeding time each day and he had fed the horses at 6:00 p.m. the night of the accident. *R. at 167 and 177.* On the night of the accident Mr. Hester visually observed the fence. *R. at 177.* 

The Court in *Barrett* wrote that "it would not be impossible for a cow to escape and get onto a nearby road even though its owner was not negligent in any manner in his confinement of the cow. Therefore, allowing the jury to infer negligence by Parker simply because his yearling was loose on the road would not be appropriate." *Id.* at 187-188. The same would be true for the horse in this case. The Ladniers must show more than the fact that Mr. Hester's horse was on the road to infer negligence. They must produce actual evidence of negligence. The *Barrett* case makes is clear that it is *not* proper to infer negligence simply from the fact that the horse, Diego, was on River Road.

-12-

The evidence showed that the horse escaped on the night of the accident by smashing down part of the box wire fencing. *R. at 167-168.* When Mr. Hester inspected the fence after learning that his horses had escaped, he discovered that the horse and cattle box wire had been smashed down to approximately two feet from the ground. *R. at 167-168.* The fencing where the horses escaped was made from four foot "horse and cattle box wire" with six foot steel posts every ten feet. *R. at 114-115.* The only evidence in the record is that the fencing, which the Ladniers now claim was defective, was designed for horses and cattle. If the Ladniers had evidence that horse and cattle box wire was not adequate for horses, that evidence should have been presented to the trial court.

In *Pennyan v. Alexander*, 91 So.2d 728 (Miss. 1957), the plaintiff's automobile ran into a bull owned by the defendant. The court noted that the "general rule relating to liability for the owner of livestock for damages for injuries to motorists...from such livestock being at large" was as follows:

"the owner of a domestic animal in not under an absolute duty to keep it from being loose and unattended on the highway and its being there is not in itself, or necessarily, unlawful or a wrong to the person injured or to the person whose property is damaged so as to render its owner liable for the injurious consequences that may accidentally flow therefrom." *Id.* at 732.

The court went on to say that "the rule is well-settled" that the owner of an animal should notice the general propensities of a class of animals - horses in our case - and the particular propensities of the animal itself - Mr. Hester's horses.

The horse that Mrs. Ladnier hit was named Diego. Diego himself was described as "real calm" and "pretty much excellent with kids and children." *R. at 141*. None of the three horses had any "mean propensities." *R. at 142*. The *Pennyan* Court said that if an owner has reason to know that a particular horse is "accustomed to kick" or a bull "that is given to assaults," then the

owner had notice of those tendencies and should know that damage may result. *Id.* at 732. There is no dispute in our case that Mr. Hester had no reason to know that Diego would escape. They had been securely enclosed in the same fencing for approximately two years with no effort to escape. There was no evidence that Hester's horses had a propensity to smash down a fence and escape prior to the accident.

The court in *Pennyan* concluded that "the keeper of a domestic animal is not in general responsible for any particular mischief that may be done by such animal which was of a kind not to be expected from him, and which it would not be negligence in the keeper to fail to guard against." *Id.* The *Pennyan* Court positively cited cases from other jurisdictions for the proposition that, in the absence of a statute to the contrary, the owner of livestock is not liable for injuries when the animals are on the highway unless the animal had propensities to engage in acts that would likely or probably result in injury. *Id.* at 733. The *Pennyan* court upheld the trial court's dismissal of the plaintiff's claim because the facts "were not sufficient to show that the owner of the animal involved should have anticipated that injury would result" when the bull escaped from its enclosure and entered the highway. *Id.* at 734.

The law is very favorable to Defendant in the case at bar. There is no statute cited that was violated by Mr. Hester, nor is there evidence that Mr. Hester's horses had a propensity to escape and run on the highway. Absent any evidence of Diego's propensity to run at large or smash down the surrounding fencing, summary judgment is proper.

Defendant Hester will now address the Plaintiffs' arguments in brief in the order presented therein primarily to dispute Ladniers' assertions regarding the state of the evidence in the record.

i. Plaintiffs argue that horse and cattle field fencing is a "dangerous hazard."

The Ladniers claim that field fencing is not adequate for horses and using it creates a "dangerous hazard" for drivers. *Brief of Appellants p. 12.* The Ladniers go so far as to describe horse and cattle box wire fencing as "chicken wire." However, The Ladniers cite no evidence in the record that any fencing other than horse and cattle box wire fence was used in the area wherein Diego escaped. The Ladniers also implore for the Court to find that only barbed wired fencing is adequate to restrain a horse. If this argument, which is not supported by any standards or expert testimony, is taken to its logical conclusion, a huge percentage of cattle and horse fencing in Mississippi is inadequate and hazardous. Mr. Hester testified:

Q. And describe this field wire fence for me, please.

ţ

i,

A. It's just basic horse and cattle box wire." R. at 114, 103-106.

The Plaintiffs now claim that such fencing is hazardous, but can point to no evidence in the record to support their position. Furthermore, the Plaintiffs claim barbed wire fencing is better than horse and cattle fencing, but again have no evidence to support this claim. The Ladniers did not produce any product warnings, expert testimony or recognized industry standards preferring barbed wire over horse and cattle box fencing to restrain a horse.

This Court has ruled in the past that negligence could not be inferred merely because an animal escaped and caused an accident. *Barrett*, 757 So.2d at 187. The *Barrett* Court said that it would be acceptable to infer negligence if the defendant's "fence was in fact *proved* to be in poor condition." (*Emphasis added*) *Id*. Ladnier, to defeat the summary judgment, must produce actual evidence that the fence was poor condition. There is a complete lack of evidence that Mr. Hester's horse and cattle fence was in a poor condition. In fact the evidence in the record on the condition of the fence was that it had restrained Hester's horses without issue for almost two

years, was inspected regularly and was in perfect working order. Moreover, Diego did not escape because of the condition of the fence, Diego escaped by smashing down the fence.

ii. <u>Plaintiffs argue that only barb wire fencing is adequate without any proof of the same.</u>

In the record below the only evidence presented was that the fence was in good repair and Mr. Hester regularly inspected it to be sure that it remained in good repair. Plaintiffs argue that horse and cattle fencing "might not be adequate to detain horses." Yet the Plaintiffs cannot cite any evidence in the record to support the argument.

The Ladniers imply in their brief that Mr. Hester's fence consisted of only a small portion of horse and cattle box wire or field fencing. This is simply contrary to the evidence. Exhibit 10 to Mr. Hester's deposition clearly shows that approximately half of the fencing was "field wire." *R. at 190.* 

The Ladniers also claim on appeal that the use of horse and cattle box wire field fence is "negligence simply waiting on proximate cause." (*Brief of Appellants p. 14*). The trial court ruled that "The Ladniers have produced no evidence that Mr. Hester failed to act with reasonable care." Mississippi law requires that a plaintiff show a defendant "failed to exercise reasonable care to keep the [animal] from being at large." *Id.* at 188. The Ladniers' claim failed not because the court made erroneous findings of facts, but because there were no facts showing Mr. Hester failed to use reasonable care.

iii. The Plaintiff's unsubstantiated claims are legally and factually unfounded.

The Ladniers argued in their brief that a "great majority" of the field was fenced with barbed wire. This is simply untrue. As previously mentioned, Exhibit 10 to Mr. Hester's deposition and his description of the fencing shows that about half of the field was fenced with horse and cattle wire fencing. *R. at 107-113, 190.* The Ladniers claim that the horse and cattle

-16-

fencing was a "time-bomb waiting to explode." *Brief of Appellants p. 16.* Again, there is no evidence that the fence was inadequate and that with the mere elapse of time, the fence would fail and the horses would escape. Moreover, there is no evidence that Hester knew or should have known that solely by the lapse of time, his horses were bound to escape. If the Ladniers' argument were true, then simply with the passage time all over George County and the rest of rural Mississippi, we should begin to see the roads of this State filled with wandering livestock.

In addition, Plaintiffs now claim, for the first time on appeal, that the field fencing "is cheaper and easier to install alternative to barb wire fencing." There is no evidence in the record to support this new argument. Nowhere in the record is there testimony or other evidence about the cost of different type fencing and the ease of installing the same.

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